2002

Linda Haymond and Melanie A. Lloyd, for  
themselves and for others similarly situated;  
Plaintiffs/Appellants, vs. Bonneville Billing and  
Collections, Inc., A Utah Corporation; Ted K.  
Godfrey; David Toller; and John Does 1 through  
10; Defendants/Appellees : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Jurisdiction in this Court is proper under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3) and Utah Constitution, Article VIII, Section 3.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The issues presented for review are:

1. Does Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd have standing to challenge the attempted collection and collection of monies by Bonneville Billing and Collections (“Bonneville”) and its attorney for "attorney’s fees", portions of which were not attorney’s fees that Bonneville was obligated to pay to its attorney, because, pursuant to a prior contract between Bonneville and its attorney, the money collected for the attorney’s fees was split and a significant portion of the money was paid to Bonneville?

2. Does Ms. Haymond have standing to challenge the attempted collection and collection of monies by Bonneville and its attorney for triple damages pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 7-15-1(6)(a)(iii) and (7)(b)(vi) where Bonneville did not have authorization by the original merchant who received her check to collect the triple damages, the original merchant did not know that Bonneville was attempting to collect the triple damages, and it was the practice of Bonneville and its attorney to keep the triple damages for themselves, not paying the triple damages to the original merchant?

Both of these standing issues were defended by Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd at the trial court. Memorandums in Opposition to Motions of Bonneville and Godfrey to Dismiss,

R. 322 & 364. This Court should review the standing issues for correctness without deference to the decision of the trial court. Kearns-Tribune Co. v. Wilkinson, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997); and American Interstate Mortgage Corp. v. Edwards, 41 P.3d 1142, 1146 (Utah App. 2002).

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE OF THE APPEAL OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL.**

---

The following constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations are determinative of this appeal or are of central importance to the appeal:

1. Utah Constitution, Art. I, § 7;
2. Utah Constitution, Art. I, § 11;
3. Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1 (pre and post 1999 versions); and
4. Rules 4-505 and 4-505.01, Utah Rules of Judicial Administration.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**I. NATURE OF THE CASE.**

Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd wrote separate checks to merchants that were dishonored. The checks were referred to Bonneville, a Utah collection agency specializing in check collection. Bonneville sent collection letters and then referred the checks to its primary attorney, Mr. Godfrey, to collect.

Bonneville has a practice that has spanned several decades of requiring its captive attorneys, such as Mr. Godfrey, to split all attorney's fees with its President, Mr. David

Toller, in return for the large volume of business that Bonneville refers to its attorneys. Until 1994, the splitting of attorney's fees was a direct 50/50 split, with Bonneville collecting the attorney's fees, keeping half and paying the other half to its attorneys. In 1994, the Utah State Bar investigated the close relations between collection agencies and their attorneys and advised the attorneys that it was unethical to split attorney's fees. The next year the Utah Judicial Council amended the rules that governed the award of attorney's fees in lawsuits. These amendments prohibited the splitting of attorney's fees with clients, such as collection agencies.

Bonneville and its attorneys were not dissuaded from continuing to split attorney's fees. Bonneville is a large collection agency, receiving 1,500 checks each day, and the amount of attorney's fees that were being split approached \$1.0 million per year. Bonneville and its attorneys simply initiated a scheme by which the attorneys would be charged approximately \$500,000.00 per year for the use of Bonneville's collection computer system. This system, known as the CUBS system, was used by Bonneville to keep track of its millions of checks and other bad debts that it was collecting. The CUBS system was necessary for Bonneville to remain in business. Its attorney was hooked to the system so Bonneville's collectors could talk with the attorney through the system.

The information provided to the attorney in the computer system was information typically provided to attorneys by their clients for free in order to aid the attorneys in lawsuits on behalf of the clients. This information consisted of the name and address of

each defendant, the amount owed, the basis of the debt such as a bad check, and the contacts made with each debtor by Bonneville's collectors.

The CUBS system cost Bonneville only \$10,000 per year, but Bonneville was charging its counsel close to \$500,000.00 per year to be on the system.

Bonneville and its attorney attempted to collect \$150.00 to \$160.00 in attorney's fees from Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd. Ms. Lloyd was sued, did not hire an attorney to defend her, and ultimately paid the attorney's fees to Bonneville to obtain dismissal of the suit. These fees were split with Bonneville.

Bonneville and its attorney also attempted to collect \$150.00 in attorney's fees from Ms. Haymond. She initially tried to defend against Bonneville's collection suit as a pro se defendant. During the state collection suit against her, Ms. Haymond hired counsel. He moved to amend her pro se answer and filed a proposed answer asserting the bogus attorney's fee scheme as a defense, along with the illegal treble damages identified below. When he served Bonneville with written discovery designed to bring these schemes out into the open, Bonneville and its attorney ran, dismissing the state court collection suit over the objection of Ms. Haymond.

Since 1999, when the Utah bad check statute was amended, Bonneville and its attorneys have been engaged in another illegal scheme. The amendment allowed the collection of damages in the amount of three times the amount of the check. The original House bill that proposed the treble damages provided that the collection agency and

collection attorneys could keep the treble damages. The Utah Legislature changed the bill to its final form that was passed which clearly prohibited collection agencies and collection attorneys from keeping any of the treble damages. The statute also made any agreement between the merchants who received the checks and the collection agencies that allowed anyone other than the original merchant to keep the triple damages void as against public policy.

This change did not stop Bonneville and its attorneys. They simply did not tell the merchants who received the bounced checks that they could collect triple damages. The merchants, therefore, did not authorize the collection of the triple damages. Notwithstanding, Bonneville and its attorney consistently attempted to collect the treble damages from the check writers, without authorization from the merchants to do so, and kept the money for themselves. Ms. Haymond was caught in this scheme when Bonneville and its attorney attempted to collect the treble damages in collection letters and in the state court collection lawsuit against her without the knowledge and authorization of the merchant who received the check. Again, she did not pay the triple damages because Bonneville and its attorney ran and hid when she hired an attorney to defend her and he asserted the illegal treble damage scheme as a defense in that suit.

The present action was brought against Bonneville and its attorney by Ms. Lloyd and Ms. Haymond seeking damages for the illegal attorney's fees that Ms. Lloyd paid and the expenses and other damages of Ms. Lloyd and Ms. Haymond incurred in defending against

Bonneville's attempts to collect the illegal triple damages and bogus attorney's fees. They also sought to represent all other check writers that were exposed to the same illegal practices.

## **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS.**

### **A. General.**

1. The defendant, Bonneville, is a collection agency, collecting on 1,500 checks assigned to it each day. Complaint, para. 35, R. 6.

2. The defendant, Ted K. Godfrey, is the primary attorney used to collect dishonored checks and other debts referred to Bonneville. Complaint, para. 5, R. 2.

3. The defendant, David Toller, is the president and primary shareholder, if not the sole shareholder, of Bonneville. Complaint, para. 6, R. 2.

### **B. Linda Haymond.**

4. On February 24, 2001, the plaintiff Linda Haymond, wrote a check to the Flower Patch for \$7.42. Complaint, para. 9, R. 3.

5. The check was dishonored because of insufficient funds and was referred to Bonneville and then to Mr. Godfrey for collection. Complaint, para. 9 - 11, R. 3.

6. On April 13, 2001, Mr. Godfrey sent to Ms. Haymond the notice attached to the Complaint as Exhibit "B". Complaint, para. 13, R. 3.

7. On June 13, 2001, Ms. Haymond was served with the bad check collection summons and complaint prepared by Mr. Godfrey on behalf of Bonneville, which

summons and complaint are attached to the Complaint as Exhibit “C”. Complaint, para. 14, R. 3.

8. On June 27, 2001, Ms. Haymond sent a cashier’s check for \$28.00 to the merchant who received her check, The Flower Patch. The cashier’s check is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit “D” thereto. Complaint, para. 15, R. 3.

9. Ms. Haymond initially attempted to defend herself in the collection lawsuit brought against her by Mr. Godfrey and Bonneville. She, thereafter, retained Mr. Lester Perry to defend her. Complaint, para. 16 & 17, R. 3.

10. When Mr. Perry was hired, he moved the court in Bonneville’s collection lawsuit against Ms. Haymond to allow her to amend her pro se answer and he filed a proposed answer asserting the defenses that: 1) Bonneville was seeking to collect attorney’s fees that were not real attorney’s fees but were monies systemically paid through the attorney to Bonneville’s president, Mr. Toller, as a collection fee not allowed by Utah’s bad check statute, Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1 and Rule 4-505.01 of the Rules of Judicial Administration; and 2) Bonneville was claiming treble damages under the new Utah bad check statute that were expressly prohibited from being collected by the statute because the merchant who received Ms. Haymond’s check had not authorized the collection of the treble damages and did not know that Bonneville was attempting to collect the treble damages and Bonneville and its attorney were keeping the triple damages. Complaint, para. 18 & 19, R. 3 & 4.

11. Mr. Perry sent several letters to Bonneville’s attorney, Mr. Godfrey,

requesting documents that were necessary to establish Ms. Haymond's defenses. When responses were not forthcoming, interrogatories, requests for admission and requests for production, designed to obtain the information, were sent to Mr. Godfrey. Complaint, para. 20 - 23, R. 4 & 5.

12. Rather than answer the discovery which would have revealed much of the fee splitting scheme and the illegal triple damage scheme, Bonneville and Mr. Godfrey moved to dismiss the collection action against Ms. Haymond. The Court refused to allow Ms. Haymond to amend her pro se answer and dismissed the complaint, over Ms. Haymond's objection. Complaint, para. 24 - 26, R. 5.

**C. Melanie Lloyd.**

13. On April 16, 1999, Ms. Lloyd wrote a check to Conoco, Inc. which was dishonored. Complaint, para. 27 & 28, R. 6.

14. Bonneville sent Ms. Lloyd the notices that are attached to the Complaint as Exhibits "K" and "L" thereto. Complaint, para. 29 & 30, R. 6.

15. On June 13, 1999, Mr. Godfrey, on behalf of his client Bonneville, caused a bad check summons and complaint to be served on Ms. Lloyd in a suit for the check, damages, costs and attorney's fees. Copies of the summons and complaint are attached to the Complaint as Exhibit "M" thereto. Complaint, para. 31, R. 6.

16. On June 14, 1999, Ms. Lloyd paid Mr. Godfrey \$40.20 by cashiers check, a copy of which is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit "N" thereto. Mr. Godfrey demanded another \$160.00 in attorney's fees before the collection suit would be



dismissed. On June 25, 2001, Ms. Lloyd paid \$160.00 by cashiers check to Mr. Godfrey, a copy of which is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit “O” thereto. Complaint, para. 32 - 34, R. 6.

17. The attorney’s fees were split with Bonneville pursuant to the practice described below. Complaint, para. 45, R. 8.

**D. Splitting of Attorney’s Fees.**

18. The last information provided by Bonneville on its operations indicated that it was assigned 1,500 dishonored checks per day to collect from Utah residents. Complaint at para. 35, R. 6.<sup>1</sup>

19. Before 1994, all attorney’s fees sought or awarded in lawsuits were split equally between Bonneville and its attorneys. In 1994, the Utah State Bar issued recommendations to all collection attorneys reminding them that it was a breach of ethics to split attorney’s fees with their clients.<sup>2</sup> Shortly thereafter, Bonneville’s attorneys began retaining 100% of the attorney’s fees collected but began paying Bonneville an

---

<sup>1</sup> Syme depo. at 40, R. 394. (Evidentiary support for allegations within a complaint is not necessary for this Court to treat the allegations as true, since the trial court’s dismissal is based upon two motions to dismiss. However, counsel for Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd has fought the attorney fee splitting issue against Bonneville and its attorneys in prior cases. In order to assure the trial court that Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd had evidentiary support for their allegations regarding the attorney’s fee splitting practice, they attached to their memorandum in opposition to the Bonneville motion to dismiss, deposition testimony and responses to interrogatories obtained in these prior cases. Since, this evidence was presented to the trial court, it will be referred to in this brief.)

<sup>2</sup> Rich depo. at 22-26 & 33, R. 396 - 398; Kaufman depo. at 37- 40 & 43, R. 403 - 405; Hansen depo. at 50-52 & 59, R. 417 - 419; Jensen depo. at 20, 23, 31 & 35, R. 428 - 431.

amount equivalent to approximately 50% of the attorney's fees for rent, maintenance of a group health plan for prior Bonneville employees who had been switched over to the attorney's payroll after the State Bar recommendations and who could not qualify for new health insurance, and for use of Bonneville's computer system.<sup>3</sup> The vast majority of the attorney's fees split with Bonneville were paid by the attorneys under the guise of being fees to be hooked into Bonneville's computerized collection system that lists the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the debtors, the amount owed, and the collection actions taken by Bonneville's collectors. Complaint at 36 - 38, R. 6 & 7.

20. When, prior to the State Bar's recommendations, Bonneville was directly splitting the attorney's fees 50/50 with its attorneys, the attorneys were not charged for being hooked into Bonneville's computer system. Complaint at 39, R. 7.

21. The last time the plaintiffs had information on Bonneville, the information indicated that Bonneville collected upwards of \$924,000.00 per year from thousands of Utah consumers for attorney's fees and approximately half of which, \$465,000.00, was passed through to Bonneville's President, Mr. Toller. Complaint at 40, R. 7.<sup>4</sup>

22. The computer system, however, costs Bonneville about \$10,000.00 per year. Complaint at 41, R. 7.<sup>5</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Rich depo. 40-48, R. 399 - 401; Toller depo. at 11-25, R. 407 - 410; Hansen, Pickering depo. at 67-76, R. 424 - 426.

<sup>4</sup> Response to Pickering interrogatories, attached to plaintiffs' opposition memorandum as Exhibit "A", R. 386.

<sup>5</sup> Toller depo. at 30 & 31, R. 411 - 412.

23. Bonneville needed the computer system to operate its business, regardless of the fact that its attorneys were hooked to the system. The system kept track of the hundreds of thousands of collection accounts and dishonored checks assigned to Bonneville. Bonneville would go out of business if it had to collect its accounts and dishonored checks without the computer system. Complaint at 42, R. 7.<sup>6</sup>

24. The information on the computer system that is provided to Bonneville's attorneys, and for which the attorneys are charged, is information that a client normally provides to its attorney without charge in an effort to aid the attorney in the prosecution of lawsuits on behalf of the client. Such information, includes the name, address and telephone number of the debtor, the amount owed, the basis of the debt such as a bad check, and the attempts made by Bonneville to collect the amount owed. Complaint at 43, R. 8.<sup>7</sup>

25. Ms. Lloyd paid at least \$150.00 in attorney's fees that were split with Bonneville's President. Ms. Haymond did not pay attorney's fees to Bonneville because she hired an attorney who answered the collection complaint of Bonneville and defended her from the claim for attorney's fees. Many of the class members paid the attorney fees

---

<sup>6</sup> Toller depo. at 11-18, 20-24, 31-33 & 36-39, R. 407 - 414; Rich depo. at 44-46, R. 400; Godfrey depo. at 25; Hansen depo. at 36 & 37, R. 416; and Hansen Pickering depo. at 16, 33 & 36, R. 421 - 423.

<sup>7</sup> See standard report from Bonneville's computer system attached to the plaintiffs' memorandum in opposition as Exhibit "B", R. 387 - 389. This report was produced by Bonneville in a prior case against Bonneville. The reports are similar for each of the plaintiffs herein. However, prosecution of the present case has not proceeded to the point that would require Bonneville to produce these reports on the plaintiffs.

that were split with Bonneville or its President. Complaint at 45, R. 8.

**E. Collection of Damages Reserved for the Merchant and Prohibited to Mr. Godfrey and Bonneville.**

26. In 1999, the Utah bad check statute, Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1, was completely rewritten. In this rewriting, the Utah State Legislature added the right of a holder of a dishonored check to: 1) offer a covenant not to sue the writer of the check and collect damages equal to the greater of \$50.00 or triple the amount of the check; and 2) after suit, collect damages equal to the greater of \$100 or triple the amount of the check. The statute, however, prohibits a third party check collector, such as Bonneville or its attorneys, from collecting these damages for itself. These damages can only be collected by the merchant to whom the check was originally written. The statute provides that any contract between the merchant and a third party check collector that allows the third party collector to retain the damages, or any portion thereof, is void. Complaint, para. 46, R. 8 & 9.

27. Bonneville and its attorney were not authorized to collect the treble damages by the merchant to whom Ms. Haymond wrote her check. Notwithstanding this fact, Bonneville and Mr. Godfrey attempted to collect such damages with the intent of keeping these damages for themselves. Ms. Haymond did not pay these damages because she hired an attorney who answered Bonneville's collection lawsuit and protected her from the attempts of Bonneville and Mr. Godfrey to collect the treble damages. Complaint, para. 47, R. 9.

28. Bonneville and its attorneys routinely attempt to collect these statutory damages from the class members, and have collected such damages from the class members, not for the merchants that have the sole right to the damages, but for the sole benefit and profit of Bonneville. Complaint, para. 48, R.9.

### **III. Course of Proceedings in Trial Court.**

This case was dismissed before discovery was commenced by the trial court based on two separate motions to dismiss. The basis of the motions was lack of standing of the plaintiffs to bring this action.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Utah's bad check statute, Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1, allows the collection of real attorney's fees. It does not allow a collection agency to collect fees or costs, other than the \$20.00 defined as a "service fee" in the bad check statute in effect when Ms. Lloyd wrote her check and the \$20.00 "service charge" and \$20.00 "cost of collection" allowed in the statute in effect when Ms. Haymond wrote her check. The splitting of attorney's fees between Bonneville and its attorney was nothing more than an end run around this limitation to allow Bonneville to collect more money than allowed by the statute.

Rules 4-505 and 4-505.01 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration govern the award of attorney's fees in Utah state court lawsuits. These rules expressly prohibit the splitting of attorney's fees with clients, such as collection agencies.

Bonneville and its attorney are committing a fraud on the courts of this state and on

the defendants that they sue by seeking to collect attorney's fees that they know before the fees are sought will be split with the collection agency, Bonneville. The defendants' attempt to hid the split by charging the attorney to be hooked into Bonneville's computer system is nothing more than a thinly veiled attempt to disguise the fraud.

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