2002

Linda Haymond v. Bonneville Billing and Collections, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

⁶Plaintiffs allege in their Complaint that Bonneville “collected up to \$160.00” in attorney’s fees from Ms. Lloyd. *See* Complaint at ¶ 71; R. at 15. However, that amount actually represents \$150.00 in attorney’s fees and \$10.00 in court costs for the cost of serving Ms. Lloyd.

statutory sum. If Plaintiffs suffered some injury, it is not legally cognizable, for the law requires the very steps that Mr. Godfrey followed.

Judge Campbell's order in the *Heard* case similarly noted that requesting statutorily authorized attorney's fees does not result in an injury:

Even assuming that Bonneville's attorney's were improperly splitting fees with their client, plaintiff does not have standing to challenge this practice.

* * *

Here, plaintiff has suffered no injury from Bonneville's alleged fee splitting practice that could be redressed by a favorable decision. Plaintiff does not allege that the amount of attorney's fees collected from her by defendants was excessive. In fact, it is undisputed that Bonneville's attorney's collected the amount of attorney's fees authorized by rule 4-505.01 of the Code of Judicial Administration. Plaintiff's claim relates only to the later distribution of the fees collected by Bonneville's attorneys. Because plaintiff has suffered no concrete, particularized injury from defendants' distribution of fees, she lacks standing to bring a claim based on Bonneville's alleged fee splitting practice.

Campbell Order of November 30, 1998, at 5-6 (*see* Memorandum in Support of Defendant Ted K. Godfrey's Motion to Dismiss at Exhibit "2"; R. at 253-264). Finally, the Tenth Circuit rejected identical claims in the *Heard* decision. "What Bonneville's attorney did with the statutory fees may violate state ethical rules. How that injures plaintiff, however, eludes us. It is the fundamental deficiency of Ms. Heard's stake in the outcome of the fee splitting issue which defeats her standing." *Heard v. Bonneville Billing and Collections*, 216 F.3d 1087 (table), 2000 WL 825721 at *5 (10th Cir. 2000)

(see Memorandum in Support of Defendant Ted K. Godfrey's Motion to Dismiss at Exhibit "3"; R. at 265-269).

Plaintiffs rely on *Fuller v. Medical Collections, Inc.*, 891 P.2d 300 (Haw. Ct. App 1995), for the proposition that money collected by an agency from a debtor as an attorney's fee is not an attorney's fee if it is not paid to the attorney. *See id.*, at 316. *Fuller* is not binding on this Court. Nor is it persuasive, because it is materially different from this case. In *Fuller*, the appellate court vacated an order granting defendant's motion to dismiss. The Hawaii statute which governed collection agencies in *Fuller* provided a private cause of action to any consumer injured by a collection agency's unlawful acts:

While HRS § 443B-2 (Supp. 1992) does delegate enforcement of the chapter to the director, enforcement may also be had through HRS chapter 480 (1985 and Supp.1992). HRS § 443B-20 (Supp. 1992) states that, "A violation of this chapter by a collection agency shall constitute unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce for the purpose of Section 480-2." HRS § 480-2(d) (Supp. 1992), in turn, permits suit on any unfair and deceptive trade practice to be brought by a "consumer." HRS § 480-13(b) allows "[a]ny consumer who is injured by any unfair or deceptive act or practice forbidden or declared unlawful by Section 480-2" to sue for damages. The complaints, thus, pray for relief under HRS § 480-13(b) (Supp. 1992) based on violations of HRS chapter 443B.

Id. at 305 (emphasis added). The Hawaii court went on to hold that if:

the collection agencies collected attorney fees knowing that, pursuant to contract with their attorney, they would pay their attorney less attorney fees than they collected, the collection agencies have in fact collected under the "attorney's fee" label something other than "an attorney's fee or

commission[.]” Obtaining a judgment for and collecting that “attorney’s fee” under those circumstances is a serious fraud upon the court and a violation of HRS Chapter 443B, and affords Plaintiffs a cause of action against the collection agencies for the Plaintiffs’ resulting damages

Id. at 316 (emphasis added). In stark contrast, Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd rely on the Utah Dishonored Instruments Act and Rules 4-505 and 4-505.01 to bring their claims, none of which provide a private cause of action. *See generally* Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1; Rules 4-505 and 4-505.01 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration. Furthermore, Utah courts will not recognize a “private cause of action based upon state law, absent some specific direction from the Legislature.” *Broadbent v. Bd. of Educ. of Cache County Sch. Dist.*, 910 P.2d 1274, 1278 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Therefore, *Fuller* is inapplicable. Plaintiffs have not suffered a legally cognizable injury and, therefore, have no standing. Plaintiffs also fail to satisfy the alternate tests for standing.

2. Plaintiffs are not the most appropriate plaintiffs to bring these claims.

Plaintiffs have failed to show that there is “no other party who has a greater interest in the outcome of the case than the aggrieved party and the issue is unlikely to be raised at all if standing is denied.” *Aldrich, Nelson, Weight & Esplin v. D.E.S.*, 878 P.2d 1191, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). First and foremost, there is no “issue” to raise in this case. As shown above, Plaintiffs have suffered no injury as a result of Mr. Godfrey seeking the attorney’s fees authorized by statute. Because Mr. Godfrey’s actions were consistent with Utah law, there can be no “appropriate plaintiff” to bring this action.

Moreover, Ms. Haymond did not pay any attorney's fees to Mr. Godfrey. Therefore, she clearly fails this test because any party who actually paid attorney's fees would be a more appropriate plaintiff than Ms. Haymond. Ms. Lloyd, finally, who paid only the statutory fee, cannot complain they were excessive or unreasonable.

Although Plaintiffs attempt to characterize their fee splitting claims as violations of the Utah Dishonored Instruments Act, and Rules 4-505 and 4-505.01, in reality their claims are based upon the alleged violation of Rule 5.4 of the Utah Rules of Professional Conduct which prohibits attorney fee splitting. Plaintiffs' Br. at 25 n.10; Complaint at ¶ 75; R. at 16-17. Violations of the Utah Rules of Professional Conduct do not give rise to a private cause of action. *See Archuleta v. Hughes*, 969 P.2d 409, 413-414 (Utah 1998). Furthermore, "[v]iolations of the Rules of Professional Conduct are prosecuted by the Utah State Bar through the Office of Professional Conduct." *Pendleton v. Utah State Bar*, 2000 UT 96, ¶ 9, 16 P.3d 1230. Therefore, the Office of Professional Conduct is also a more appropriate plaintiff to bring these claims, and Plaintiffs, therefore, fail the first alternate test for standing.

3. These are not issues of great importance that should be decided by the Court.

Plaintiffs have failed to show that "the issues presented are unique and of such importance that they ought to be decided in the furtherance of public interest." *Nordfelt*, 869 P.2d at 951-52. Once again, Plaintiffs have suffered no injury as a result of Mr.

Godfrey seeking the attorney's fees authorized by Rule 4-505.01, and Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd are not the most appropriate plaintiffs to bring these claims. Furthermore, Plaintiffs' fee splitting claims are not issues that should be decided by any court.

Judge Benson and Judge Campbell have both declined to adjudicate identical grievances, finding that fee splitting is an attorney disciplinary matter for the Utah State Bar. Sure enough, Plaintiffs' counsel filed a lengthy complaint against Mr. Godfrey with the state bar raising these very allegations. Yet, it was dismissed in May of 2001. Still unsatisfied, Plaintiffs' counsel is trying again in court. Changing courts does change the disciplinary nature of the grievance. Utah courts "will not entertain generalized grievances that are more appropriately directed to [other] branches of the state government." *Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145, 1149 (Utah 1983). The same rule and result apply here. Plaintiffs have no standing.

4. Additionally, Plaintiffs are seeking relief which the Court cannot grant.

Still another reason why this is not a justiciable controversy is that Plaintiffs seek relief which the Court cannot grant. Plaintiffs' complaint alleges twenty-two causes of action and requests class certification. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants obtained judgments against many class members for "imaginary attorney's fees." *See* Complaint at ¶ 77; R. at 17. Plaintiffs have requested that the trial court "enter an order vacating all such judgments and require Bonneville to record the order in all cases that have such

judgments entered.” *See* Complaint at ¶¶ 77, 82, 88, 90, 94; R. 17-20. Plaintiffs, however, have not complied with Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the only available avenue by which to challenge unappealed final judgments. Thus, Plaintiffs cannot show “a likelihood that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.”

Faustin v. City and County of Denver, 268 F.3d 942, 947 (10th Cir. 2001).

In summary, Plaintiffs lack standing to assert their claims alleging attorney fee splitting by Mr. Godfrey and Bonneville.

C. Plaintiffs Lack Standing to Assert Their Claims Alleging the Improper Collection and Retention Treble Damages on Behalf of Bonneville and Mr. Godfrey.

1. Plaintiffs have suffered no distinct and palpable injury.

Plaintiffs fail the traditional test for standing because they have not suffered a “distinct and palpable injury giving rise to a personal stake in the outcome of the dispute.” *Order of Police Lodge v. Nordfelt*, 869 P.2d 948, 950 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). Neither Ms. Lloyd nor Ms. Haymond paid treble damages to Bonneville. Treble damages were never requested of Ms. Lloyd and, in fact, were not available when Ms. Lloyd bounced her check. Therefore, Ms. Lloyd suffered no distinct and palpable injury.

The 1999 amendments to the Dishonored Instruments Act (Addendum), in effect when Ms. Haymond bounced her check, authorized the check holder to collect triple the

face amount of the check as treble damages.⁷ Such damages, however, must be “paid to and be the property of the original payee of the check.” Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1(6)(b)(i) and (7)(e)(i). Bonneville, as holder, is authorized to collect treble damages, but may not “retain amounts charged or collected.” They belong to the payee of the check.

In the pre-suit notice and the complaint served upon Ms. Haymond, Bonneville requested treble damages as authorized by statute. However, Ms. Haymond did not pay any treble damages to Mr. Godfrey or Bonneville. Plaintiffs allege that “Bonneville and Mr. Godfrey attempted to collect such damages with the intent of keeping the damages for themselves.” *See* Complaint at ¶ 47; R. at 9. Even if true, Ms. Haymond has suffered no injury. If any party could allege an injury it would be the original merchant who received the check, not Ms. Haymond. “One who is not adversely affected has no standing. A mere allegation of an adverse impact is not sufficient. There must also be some causal relationship between the injury to the [complainant], the [defendants’] actions and the relief requested.” *State v. Mace*, 921 P.2d 1372, 1379 (Utah 1996).

Ms. Haymond claims that she suffered a distinct and palpable injury because she had to hire a lawyer to avoid paying treble damages. *See* Plaintiffs’ Br. at 32. However, to the extent that hiring a lawyer is an injury, it was the direct result of Ms. Haymond’s

⁷ The Act also sets minimum and maximum limits for treble damages. The minimum amount is \$50.00 if no suit is filed, and \$100.00 if a lawsuit is filed. The maximum amount is \$250.00 if no suit is filed, and \$500.00 if a lawsuit is filed. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 7-15-1(6) and (7).

own actions. First, Ms. Haymond bounced a check. Second, she failed to pay the check amount and a minor service charge in a timely manner. Had she done so, treble damages would not have been an issue. It was only after Ms. Haymond bounced a check, and then was derelict in correcting the problem, that Bonneville filed suit. Ms. Haymond did not hire an attorney solely to avoid paying treble damages. She hired Mr. Perry to defend her in the collection lawsuit. If Ms. Haymond suffered any injury at all, it was self inflicted and does not confer standing to bring these claims. Therefore, under the traditional test, Plaintiffs lack standing on the fee splitting claims.

2. Plaintiffs are not the most appropriate plaintiffs to bring these claims.

Plaintiffs have failed to show that there is “no other party who has a greater interest in the outcome of the case than the aggrieved party and the issue is unlikely to be raised at all if standing is denied.” *Aldrich, Nelson, Weight & Esplin v. D.E.S.*, 878 P.2d 1191, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). Plaintiffs cannot satisfy this test, for they have no “interest in the outcome.” Neither Plaintiff paid treble damages. Therefore, anyone who actually paid treble damages would be a more appropriate plaintiff. Additionally, even if Bonneville and Mr. Godfrey improperly retained treble damages, the payees of the checks would be the injured parties and would be the appropriate plaintiffs. “Plaintiff[s] may not allege jeopardy or injury to others in order to confer standing upon [their] own claims.” *York v. Unqualified Washington County Elected Officials*, 714 P.2d 679, 680 (Utah

1986). Ms. Haymond and Ms. Lloyd clearly are not the most appropriate plaintiffs to bring these claims.

3. These are not issues of great importance that should be decided in the furtherance of public interest.

Plaintiffs have failed to show that “the issues presented are unique and of such importance that they ought to be decided in the furtherance of public interest.” *Order of Police Lodge v. Nordfelt*, 869 P.2d 948, 950 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). The treble damages claims are not of sufficient public importance in and of themselves to warrant standing. There is nothing in the Complaint to support the argument that these issues need to be decided and that they need to be decided right now. To the contrary, it was appropriate for the Judge Frederick to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims and wait to address these issues if and when they are brought by an appropriate plaintiff who has suffered a distinct and palpable injury.

In summary, Plaintiffs lack standing to assert their claims alleging the improper collection and retention of treble damages by Mr. Godfrey and Bonneville.

III. JUDGE FREDERICK’S ORDER OF DISMISSAL DID NOT VIOLATE PLAINTIFFS’ CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

Plaintiffs argue that the trial court violated Article I, Sections 7 and 11 of the Utah Constitution by dismissing their claims and denying them their right to a day in court. *See* Plaintiffs’ Br. at 32-34. This argument, however, is being raised for the first time on appeal and, therefore, should not be considered by the Court. Furthermore, even if the

Court were to consider Plaintiffs' untimely constitutional argument, this argument fails on the merits because Plaintiffs lack standing.

A. Plaintiffs' Constitutional Argument is Being Raised for the First Time on Appeal.

Plaintiffs' constitutional argument, claiming violation of the due process and open courts provisions, is being raised for the first time on appeal. Plaintiffs failed to raise this argument in their memoranda filed in opposition to Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. *See* R. at 322-431. Plaintiffs also failed to raise this argument during the hearing on Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. *See* Transcript of June 3, 2002 Hearing; R. at 479 (pp. 1-14).

This Court has repeatedly held that "[i]ssues not raised at trial cannot be argued for the first time on appeal." *Monson v. Carver*, 928 P.2d 1017, 1022 (Utah 1996) (citation omitted); *accord Treff v. Hinckley*, 2001 UT 50, ¶ 9 n.4, 26 P.3d 212 ("We will not address any arguments raised for the first time on appeal."); *Certified Sur. Group, Ltd. v. Utah, Inc.*, 960 P.2d 904, 906 n.3 (Utah 1998) ("Issues raised for the first time on appeal will generally not be considered."). "This rule applies to all claims, including constitutional questions." *Monson*, 928 P.2d at 1022. Because Plaintiffs failed to raise their constitutional argument in the trial court, it should not be considered on appeal. *See State v. Carter*, 707 P.2d 656, 661 (Utah 1985) ("Failure to raise the point [below] precludes its consideration here.").

B. Plaintiffs' Constitutional Rights were not Violated Because Plaintiffs Lack Standing to Sue.

Even if the Court considers Plaintiffs' untimely constitutional argument, that argument fails on the merits because Plaintiffs lack standing to sue. The due process provision of the Utah Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law." Utah Const. art. I, § 7. The open courts provision of the Utah Constitution provides:

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